
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Graham Seal 

 
 

1 September 2017 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH  
COUNCIL to be held on  Monday 11 September 2017 at 7.30 pm in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Executive Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

2.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2017 
(previously circulated). 
 

3.   PETITIONS  
 

 The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented). 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

Public Document Pack



5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

7.   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 7 - 8) 
 

 For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question under Rule 44 may ask, 
without giving notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the 
first question was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of 
the reply. 
 

8.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider recommendations from the meeting of the Cabinet on 5 September 
2017:- 
 

(a)    Older Persons Housing Strategy 2017 - 2022 (Pages 9 - 58) 
 

(b)    External Auditor Appointment (Pages 59 - 64) 
 

9.   WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME (Pages 65 - 76) 
 

 Recommendation on the review of Members’ allowances for 2017/18 from the 
meeting of the Independent Remuneration Panel held on 11 July 2017. 
 

10.   CONSIDERATION OF ADDING A NEW CONDITION TO ALL STREET 
TRADING CONSENTS (Pages 77 - 94) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
asking the Council to agree the introduction of a new Street Trading consent 
condition. 
 

11.   APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO OUTSIDE BODIES  
 

 To appoint representatives to serve on the following outside bodies in 2017/18:- 
 
(a) Holwell Primary School Governing Body 
(b) Ludwick Family Club Management Committee 



 

12.   NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50 (Pages 95 - 96) 
 

 To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct. Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 4 September 2017 will be circulated separately. 
 

13.   URGENT MATTERS  
 

 To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r). 

 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Executive Board 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services Unit on 01707 357444 or email – g.seal@welhat.gov.uk / 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:g.seal@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 4 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 
QUESTION BY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC 
 
Notice of the following question has been received:- 
 
1. Question from Richard Peeters 
  

“I am a landlord with house-share properties (HMOs) in Hatfield since 2004. 
We pay contractors to maintain the gardens, and part of their task is to 
remove all garden waste.  
 
We therefore have no need for the brown wheelie bins, and nor do the 
tenants of those properties. This was the case long before the introduction of 
the fees for collecting garden waste. We have no space to store them, and 
offered to return them to the Council (whose property they are).   
 
The Council’s Waste team responded that the Council did not want them 
back; had no use for unwanted wheelie bins; and no scheme to reassign them 
to other residents. They said that we should take the unwanted wheelie bins 
to the County recycling centres and dispose of them there (in the rigid plastics 
skip). They would remove those bins from their database. 
 
We have previously been charged £60 to replace damaged or stolen wheelie 
bins, and told that reflects the actual cost of wheelie bins to the Council. 
 
As taxpayers we “own” all the wheelie bins and it seems more than a shame 
to be told to dump the unwanted ones, even in unused condition.  
 
The Council must surely be able to make use of them elsewhere: new 
housing estates don’t really need brand new wheelie bins, just bins initially in 
decent and clean condition. 
 
There may be hundreds of unwanted brown wheelie bins, and there may be 
some residents who need and would willingly pay for collection of two or more 
brown wheelie bins. 
 
What about reusing them in public parks to collect litter and dog waste? 
 
If Council truly cannot think of some better fate for the unwanted wheelie bins, 
then may we be allowed to take ownership of ours, and those of other 
residents and landlords if they wish to dispose of them?” 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 7 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY 
MEMBERS  
 
Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:- 
 
1. Question to the Leader from Councillor James Broach 
  

“Why is Hatfield Town Centre falling apart?” 
 
2. Question to the Leader from Councillor Tom Bailey 
 

“Residents have raised concerns about the apparently low number of users at the 
Highropes site. Coupled with the continuing inability to put the correct location of 
the site on google maps there is a general level of concern that the site is not 
being marketed and managed as optimally as it could be. Please can you supply 
attendance figures for the site and how these compare with the expected 
attendance figures, and also with the figures of comparable sites?” 

 
3. Question to the Leader from Councillor Nick Pace 
 

“Following the recent changes to the brown bin collections, can I ask on behalf of 
residents, what impact this has had on the satisfaction results?” 

 
4. Question to the Leader from Councillor Lenny Brandon 
 

“What will this Council do about significant rat infestation problems in communal, 
Council-owned areas of Hatfield Town Centre?” 

 
5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Rachel Basch 
 

“Given your decision not to take any action over the declining appearance of 
22 Parkway, what will you do to stop it looking even worse in the lead-up to 
WGC's centenary in 2020, should  Wetherspoon's fail to dispose of or re-use 
the site?” 

 
6. Question to the Leader from Councillor John Fitzpatrick 
 

“This Council committed to investigating mandatory landlord licensing 
sometime ago.  Where are with that Now?” 

 
7. Question to the Leader from Councillor Malcolm Cowan 
 

“You will recall that all members at the recent EOSC meeting reported the 
ongoing failure of Serco to empty the ‘bring’ recycling bins around the 
borough. This has been going on for several months at least. When will we 
get a reliable service, week on week, month on month, that does not allow 
bins to overflow, and regular clearance of the surrounding litter?" 

  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 
8. Question to the Leader from Councillor Helen Quenet 
 

“Is it acceptable that a woman with twin 8 month old daughters should share 
her council house with rats?” 

Page 8



Part I 
Item No: 8 
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 5 September 2017:- 
 
(a) Older Persons Housing Strategy 2017 -2022 (Forward Plan Reference 

FP814) 
 
The Cabinet considered the adoption of an updated strategy following 
consultation. 
 
The draft Older Persons Housing Strategy had been developed in 
response to recognition at a national level of the need to plan for an 
increasingly ageing population who were living longer with the predicted 
considerable rise in the number of people in the Country who would be 
over 60 in the next 20 years from19.4M in 2016 to 31.1M in 2037. 
 
The Cabinet approved the Older Persons Housing Strategy 2017-2022, 
incorporating revisions from the consultation with key stakeholders and 
RECOMMENDS it to the Council for adoption. 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Rachel Sesstein  
Executive Member: Cllr Mandy Perkins 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 05TH SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 
 
OLDER PERSONS HOUSING STRATEGY 2017 – 2022 
  
1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The draft Older Persons Housing Strategy has been developed in response to 
recognition at a national level that we need to plan for an increasingly ageing 
population who are living longer; the predicted rise in the number of people in 
the country who will be over 60 in the next 20 years is considerable (19.4m 
2016 -31.1m 2037). 

1.2 The draft Older Persons Housing Strategy (attached at Appendix A) sets out 
the Council’s plans, working jointly with its partners, to meet the housing 
needs and aspirations of older people in the borough over the next 5 years. 

1.3 The report provides information on: 

a)  Why an Older Persons Housing Strategy is needed 

b) The key issues and challenges in meeting the housing needs of 
older people in the borough 

c) The Council’s priorities for addressing the housing needs of older 
people and how it intends to achieve them 

d) The report also outlines the consultation activity with people over 50 
in the borough, consultation on stakeholder response to the strategy 
and the outcomes of those consultations. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Cabinet approves, the Older Persons Housing Strategy incorporating 
revisions from the consultation with key stakeholders and recommends its 
adoption to Council 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Older Persons Housing Strategy sets out proposed priorities and 
associated actions over the next five years, for meeting the future housing 
needs and aspirations of older people for the Borough  

3.2 The draft Strategy is linked to the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2013 
to 2018 and in particular the key priority – Meeting older people and other 
vulnerable group’s housing needs.  This is important  because: 

Page 11



a) We have an increasing generation of older people, who are living 
longer, healthier, and more active lives who have higher and 
evolving aspirations for their housing in later life 

b) Research suggests that good quality housing, secured at the right 
time, that meets the changing needs of people as they age, 
significantly preserves their health and wellbeing. This in turn leads 
to significant savings in expenditure on long term health, care & 
support.  

c) Providing housing that older people want to move to, could have a 
significant impact on the general housing market, alleviating some of 
the housing shortage, freeing up equity and much needed family size 
homes across all sectors. 

d) It will assist the council in its asset management of its older persons 
housing stock in relation to possible, refurbishment, redevelopment, 
re-modelling and new build opportunities as part of its Affordable 
Housing Programme.    

3.3 The draft Older Persons Housing Strategy has been developed in consultation 
with key stakeholders (internal and external) and via a public consultation. 
The public consultation invited residents over 50 in the borough and partners 
to complete a survey. Two focus groups were also held with members of the 
public from this demographic. 

3.4 The key outcomes of the consultation have informed the development of the 
strategy. An additional detailed report has been drafted on the outcome of the 
consultation, to support the strategy. The report is contained in the 
background document.  

3.5 The key challenges to meeting the needs and aspiration of older people in 
Welwyn Hatfield, identified in the development of the strategy were: 

a) Providing a more varied and improved housing offer to older people, 
with cuts to public sector spending and housing revenue. 

b) Developing the relevant partnerships to increase the supply of 
affordable homes  that meet the needs of older people 

c) Addressing the demand for older persons housing to reduce social 
isolation and increase health and well being 

d) Encouraging older people to plan ahead for accommodation that 
better meets their need in the future. 

3.6 Three priority areas have been identified which are important to focus on in 
addressing the housing needs of older people. They are: 

a) Have a range of good quality, appropriate and affordable housing 
available across all tenures that meet changing needs. 

Page 12



b) Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible 

c) Encourage partnership working between all stakeholders to improve 
the overall quality of life experienced by older people 

3.7 The objectives for achieving the priorities are set out in the Older Persons 
Housing Strategy Action Plan also part of (Appendix A) 

3.8 On the 16/11/16 the Older Persons Housing Strategy was presented to the 
Social Overview and Scrutiny Panel, they were asked to consider, revise if 
required and then to give permission to initiate consultation with key 
stakeholders. Members did not request any amendments to the strategy and 
agreed that officers should initiate consultation on the Older Persons Housing 
Strategy with key stakeholders. 

3.9 In January 2017 consultation was carried out with key stakeholders on the 
draft strategy (e.g. neighbouring boroughs, partner providers and the 
voluntary sector etc.) 

3.10 As a result of the consultation with stakeholders, two amendments were made 
to the strategy, the amendments were to: 

a) add an additional action to the action plan to work in partnership with 
Hertfordshire County Council on the “Community Conversation” 
initiative  

b) add an additional action in the action plan to work in partnership with 
Herts County Council on the “specialist care at home” initiative to 
explore how to expand this resource with the voluntary and 
community sector. 

 

Implications 

 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There is no statutory obligation, for a strategic housing authority to provide an 
older persons housing strategy 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 This strategy sets medium and long term objectives that are likely to require 
planned and coordinated investment from existing Council budgets and other 
external investment. The investment requirements have not yet been 
identified at this stage but are likely to include 

a) Grant funding from the Homes and Communities Agency 

b) Usable capital receipts  

Page 13



c) Affordable Housing Programme capital budget 

d) Major Repairs Reserve 

e) Private Investment 

 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1.1 Reputational: Failure to deliver on the actions set out within the Action Plan.  
Controls: A project group would be formed to oversee delivery of the Action 
Plan; progress on the delivery of the Action Plan to be reported to members 
via this committee. Impact medium Likelihood Low. 

6.1.2 Resources: Insufficient funding or staffing resource to undertake the 
Actions set out in the Action Plan. Controls: Action Plan has been 
developed with the information available about resources currently; all 
actions are SMART; Project team will oversee delivery. Impact high; 
Likelihood Low.   

6.2 Financial: Funding cuts that may impact the ability to remodel, refurbish or 
provide new homes. Controls: Scheme progression will be monitored by the 
project group overseeing delivery of the action plan, any issues with funding 
will be reported to members at this meeting via the Action plan progress 
updates. Impact High - Likelihood medium 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no specific security and terrorism implications arising from this 
report 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 The are no procurement implications arising from this report 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 Key strategic priority 1 will make a significant impact on climate change it 
incorporates : 

a) Increasing supply of affordable housing for older people, which will 
include the potential to build new homes which are more sustainable 
and energy efficient 

b) Improving and redeveloping the councils existing sheltered stock, 
making it more sustainable and energy efficient 

Page 14



c) Improving standards for older people in the private rented sector, 
includes improving property condition and energy efficiency. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities 1 and 3 

Priority 1 - Maintain a safe and healthy community, and specifically to the 
achievement of “work with partners to keep people safe”  

Priority 3 - “Meet the borough's housing needs, and specifically to the 
achievement   of “Plan for the housing needs of our communities” 

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality impact screening has been carried out as part of the survey and 
consultation.  Equality Impact Assessments would be carried out in relation to 
actions set out in the associated Action Plan.  

 
 
Name of author Rachel Sesstein ext 2766 
Title Housing Strategy Manager 
Date 26/06/2017 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed N/A  

Appendices to be listed  

Appendix A:  Draft Older Person’s Housing Strategy and Action Plan 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Welwyn Hatfield’s  

Older Person’s Draft 

Housing Strategy 

 

2017- 2022 

Page 17



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

2 
 

Contents 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s (WHBC) Older People’s Housing Strategy in relation to 

other Corporate Strategies & Plans ................................................................................... 6 

Background ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Why we need an Older Person’s Housing Strategy (OPHS) ................................................. 7 

How we developed our Older Person’s Housing Strategy ................................................... 7 

Our Vision ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Our Aims: ......................................................................................................................... 8 

Aim 1 ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

Have a range of good quality, appropriate and affordable housing available across 

all tenures to meet changing needs................................................................................... 8 

Aim 2 – .................................................................................................................................... 9 

Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible. .............................. 9 

Aim 3 – .................................................................................................................................. 10 

Encourage partnership working between all stakeholders to improve the overall 

quality of life experienced by older people ..................................................................... 10 

The National Context ...................................................................................................... 11 

The Countywide Context ................................................................................................. 12 

Key Challenges identified from the National & Countywide Context ................................ 12 

Welwyn Hatfield – Profile ............................................................................................... 13 

Population Growth ....................................................................................................................................... 13 

Quality of Life & Levels of Deprivation ........................................................................................................ 13 

The Local Context ........................................................................................................... 14 

WHBC Draft Local Plan ................................................................................................................................. 14 

WHCHT Independent Living Team ............................................................................................................... 14 

Sheltered Housing ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

Dementia Aware .......................................................................................................................................... 15 

Local level Priorities ........................................................................................................ 15 

Fuel Poverty ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Under-occupation ........................................................................................................................................ 16 

Maintaining independence .......................................................................................................................... 16 

Affordable Housing Programme .................................................................................................................. 17 

Key challenges arising from the local context .................................................................. 17 

Resources ....................................................................................................................... 18 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 ............................................................................................................ 18 

Page 18



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

3 
 

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 ..................................................................................................... 18 

Housing Related Support ............................................................................................................................. 18 

Affordable Housing Programme Finance ..................................................................................................... 19 

Challenges arising from resources ................................................................................... 19 

Over 50’s Consultation .................................................................................................... 20 

Key Consultation Outcomes ............................................................................................ 20 

Surveys ......................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Focus Groups .................................................................................................................. 21 

Social Housing representatives: ................................................................................................................... 21 

Owner Occupier and other Rented Representatives: .................................................................................. 22 

Key Challenges Identified from the consultation.............................................................. 22 

Supporting Action Plan ................................................................................................... 23 

Glossary of terms and Abbreviations ............................................................................... 33 

Appendices ..................................................................................................................... 35 

Appendix A:  National Priorities Influencing the Strategy ............................................ 35 

Appendix B: Countywide Priorities Influencing the Strategy ....................................... 39 

Appendix C Local Level Priorities .................................................................................... 41 

 

 

  

Page 19



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

4 
 

 

Foreword Executive Member of Housing & Planning  

 

It is widely recognised that across the Country we have an increasingly ageing 

population. We are generally living longer, healthier and more active lives and have 

higher aspirations for how and where we want to live in our later years. As the 

ageing population grows we need to ensure we have planned and prepared for the 

housing and support required to meet their future needs.  

In response I am pleased to announce that we have developed our first strategy that 

focuses on the future housing needs for older people in this borough. The Older 

Persons Housing Strategy, sets out the Council’s plans to improve the housing 

options available, help maintain independence and generally improve the overall 

quality of life for older people who live here. 

I would like to thank all the residents in the borough who took the time to participate 

in the consultation. Listening to your views on a number of issues including 

wellbeing, lifestyle and housing design enabled us to gain a good understanding of 

the future needs and housing requirements of this generation in Welwyn Hatfield.   

Mandy Perkins 

Executive Member for Housing and Planning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

5 
 

Introduction 

 

Welcome to Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s (WHBC) Older Person’s Housing 
Strategy, our first Housing Strategy to focus purely on the needs of older people in 
the borough.  

 

Meeting the borough’s housing need is a corporate priority. This strategy identifies 
the key issues and challenges surrounding the delivery of housing for older people 
and sets out the council’s priorities for addressing them. The strategy was developed 
in consultation with partners, stakeholders and local residents. Its aims and 
objectives inter-link with other local plans and strategies and are designed to support 
the overarching objectives of two of the Council’s key plans for housing delivery: 

 

1. WHBC Housing and Homelessness Strategy particularly ‘housing for vulnerable 
groups’ which sets out to address some of the key issues identified for housing 
and older people 

 High levels of fuel poverty amongst the over 65s 

 Despite council-owned homes being in high demand, some council-owned 
homes for older people (sheltered homes) are hard to let  

 A considerable proportion of older tenants in general needs council-owned 
homes are living in homes which are larger than they need. 

 Older people living in homes which are too big for them is also an issue in 
the private rented sector and so this needs to be addressed  

 An improved range of housing options, support and advice services are 
needed for older people in the borough 

 
 

2. WHBC Draft Local Plan which  will shape future development and growth of the 
borough’s towns and villages and it also identifies the future demand for 
specialised housing, supported housing and care places for our older people over 
the next 20 years  

 

Page 21



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

6 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s (WHBC) Older People’s Housing Strategy in relation to other 
Corporate Strategies & Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National & Countywide  Policy

WHBC Business Plan 2015-2017

WHBC Draft Local Plan 2016-2032

WHBC Housing and Homelessness 
Strategy

Older Person’s Housing Strategy 
2016-2021

WHBC Housing & Homelessness 
Strategy 2013-18 

Proposed Submission Local Plan 
2016 

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment 2014/15 

Sheltered Housing Review 2015 

Ageing Well in Hertfordshire 
Strategy 2015-2019 

Hertfordshire Heath & Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2020 

Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment 2014 

 

 
Informed & 

shaped by 

Affordable Housing Programme 

2016-2021 

Welwyn Hatfield Council’s Asset 

Management Programme 2015-

2020 

HRA Business Plan 2016-2046 

Emerging Fuel Poverty Strategy 

Emerging Aids & Adaptations Policy 

Housing Allocations Policy 2013 

Disabled Facilities Grants Scheme 

Community Safety Partnership 

Annual Action Plan (2016) 

Delivered 

Through 

P
age 22



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

7 
 

Background 

This strategy has been developed at a time when housing is fast becoming one of 
the country’s biggest challenges. Decades of under supply in house building and an 
increasing and ageing population have led to a severe deficit in the number of 
homes available for people who need them. A number of government initiatives are 
being launched to help younger people access the housing market, but experts in 
the field of housing market forecasting1  now believe that there is also a need for a 
national focus on developing better and additional housing for older people.  

 

Why we need an Older Person’s Housing Strategy (OPHS) 

There are several reasons to introduce a housing strategy for older people: 

1. We have an increasing generation of older people, who are living longer, 
healthier, and more active lives with higher and evolving aspirations for their 
housing in later life.  

2. Research suggests that good quality housing, secured at the right time, that 
meets the changing needs of people as they age, significantly preserves the 
health and wellbeing of older people; in turn making significant savings in 
expenditure on long term health care & support. 

3. Providing housing that older people want to move to, could have a significant 
impact on the general housing market, helping to alleviate the country’s 
housing crisis, freeing up equity and much needed family size homes across 
all sectors.  

 

How we developed our Older Person’s Housing Strategy  

 
This strategy has been developed by undertaking a review of older people’s housing 

and support services in the borough, listening to the views and aspirations of our 

residents and looking at the current national and regional context. This involved: 

 

 A borough wide survey of residents over 50 yrs.  

 Consultation with key stakeholder groups such as the interfaith group, ethnic 

and other minority groups and groups representing those with disabilities 

 Individual discussions on housing issues with residents at Welwyn Garden 

City Central Library  

 Focus groups 

 A review of information, research, statistical data and trends around the 

ageing population, demographics, health and housing  

 Comparing Welwyn Hatfield’s performance against best practice and other 

Local Authorities performance. 

                                                           
1Knight Franks Retirement Housing Report 2016 

Page 23



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

8 
 

A Home for Life 

Our Vision and Aims 

 

Our Vision 

 
 

Our Aims: 

 

1. Have a range of good quality, appropriate and affordable housing available 
across all tenures to meet changing needs. 

 
2. Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible. 

 

3. Encourage partnership working between all stakeholders to improve the 
overall quality of life experienced by older people 

 

Aim 1  
 Have a range of good quality, appropriate and affordable housing available 

across all tenures to meet changing needs. 

 

 

Our Objectives  

We Will: 

 Work with our development partners to increase the supply and choice of 

housing options available for older people. 

 Make the necessary improvements to the council’s existing stock for older 

people and develop new homes to replace those not fit for purpose following 

the outcome of the sheltered housing review. 

 As part of the overall housing target, seek a net increase in a range of 

housing designed for older people, with a specified proportion being delivered 

on strategic development sites and at excluded villages. 

 

Older people in Welwyn Hatfield have a range of affordable, good 
quality housing options, advice and support services to choose from, 
that will promote independence, health and well-being and 
contributes to improving the overall quality of life. 

 

Page 24



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

9 
 

 In addition deliver on the target set out in the local plan for the provision of 

specialist bed spaces for residential and nursing care. 

 Continue to improve housing standards in the private rented sector. 

 Ensure the HAPPI 2 design principles are used to inform future improvement 

and new developments of the Councils own stock for older people. 

 Wherever possible encourage private developers to use the HAPPI design 

principles to inform their future developments for older people. 

 Continue to be innovative and utilise the funds available to us in the most 

effective way to mitigate against the loss of revenue from national policy 

change and to meet our commitment to improve and develop homes for older 

people. 

 Re-brand and re-market older people’s housing, to eliminate stereotypes, 

promoting different living opportunities and broadening the outlook for older 

people when it comes to decisions about future housing. 

 Improve the information and advice available to help older people make 

informed choices about their housing options, when to move and how to 

facilitate a move.  

 

Aim 2 –  
Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible. 

 

 

Our Objectives  

We Will: 

 Continue to oversee administration of disabled facilities grants for aids and 

adaptations that enable extended independence to people who want to 

remain in their own home. 

 Work with our partners at Hertfordshire. County Council to identify where 

appropriate care and support packages are required for the people in the 

borough that need them.  

 Work with partners at Hertfordshire. County Council to increase the availability 

of assistive technology, flexi-care and floating support 

 Continue to work with partners and tenants of social housing to mitigate 

against the impact of the withdrawal/reduction of housing related support 

funding  

 Implement the council’s Aids and Adaptations Policy for residents where 

remaining in their current home is the best option for them. 

                                                           
2 Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation (report 1) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378171/happi_final_report_
-_031209.pdf 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378171/happi_final_report_-_031209.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378171/happi_final_report_-_031209.pdf


Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

10 
 

 Continue to work to reduce the number of tenants living in council homes 

which are not suitable and /or are too large for their needs. 

Aim 3 – 
Encourage partnership working between all stakeholders to improve the 

overall quality of life experienced by older people 
 

 

Our Objectives  

We Will: 

 Help reduce social isolation amongst older people by working with voluntary 

sector partners who provide social activities, transport and support for this 

demographic. 

 Wherever possible encourage developers of older peoples housing of the 

benefits of providing communal facilities that encourage social integration 

 Work with all partners to improve and keep updated all available information / 

relevant sign posts for the various support and advice services available 

within the borough and surrounding areas for our older people  

 Develop an action plan and implement the council’s fuel poverty strategy to 

reduce the number of older people living in inadequately heated properties 

and cold weather related deaths amongst older people. 

 Pay close attention to the location on any future housing developments for 

older people to ensure residents have easy access to transport, shops and 

facilities to promote independence and social integration. 

 Continue to work as part of the Welwyn Hatfield Dementia Action Alliance 

(WHDAA)  

 Engage with the local loneliness project 

  

Page 26



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

11 
 

The National Context 

WHBCs’ Older Persons Housing Strategy has been informed by objectives at a 
national level as well as predictions in growth and future demographics. This section 
highlights the relevant key points from the national objectives and forecasts that 
have influenced this strategy. 

Currently 19.4m people in the UK are over 60 years of age, and this is now predicted 
to rise to 31.1million by 2037. 

This Government and preceding governments have been aware of the challenge 
ahead of providing suitable housing for an increasingly ageing population, and 
started to review the situation as far back as 2008. They identified early on that most 
homes and communities are not designed to meet people’s changing needs as they 
grow older and the need for a better and wider range of housing options for older 
people is required.  

Reports3 and all party specialist groups were commissioned to take a detailed look 
into this area. As a result direct links were established between good quality housing 
that meets the changing needs of older people and improved health and wellbeing, 
leading to lower demand for healthcare and support services. A set of design 
principles have been produced, known as the 10 HAPPI Principles. These are 10 
key design elements now considered essential in the improvement and development 
of older people’s housing:  

• Space and flexibility 

• Daylight in the home and in shared spaces 

• Balconies and outdoor space 

• Adaptability and ‘care ready’ design 

• Positive use of circulation space 

• Shared facilities and ‘hubs’ 

• Plants, trees, and the natural environment 

• Energy efficiency and sustainable design 

• Storage for belongings and bicycles 

• External shared surfaces and ‘home zones’ 

In addition a number of national policies and strategies have been developed to 
encourage improvement to the housing options available for older people, and 
increased support services to prolong independence. The government also 
committed funding to adapt existing homes to meet health and mobility needs 
through DFG’s and have improved accessibility to information on housing and 
support options available for older people through “First Stop” on-line information 
and advice service. 

Full details of the relevant national objectives influencing this strategy are set out in 
appendix A at the end of the document. 

 

                                                           
3 Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation Reports – 1,2 & 3 

Page 27



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

12 
 

 

The Countywide Context 

Welwyn Hatfield is one of the 10 district and boroughs that make up the County of 
Hertfordshire. Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) has the statutory responsibility for 
meeting the care and support needs of vulnerable groups in the region including 
older people. To address that responsibility, HCC has a number of priorities at a 
regional level that impact on how the borough addresses the housing needs of older 
residents in the future. These include: 

 Ageing Well in Hertfordshire Strategy 2015-2019 

 Herts. County Council’s Market Position Statement for Older People (2015) 

 Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

 Development of Herts. County Council Accommodation Strategy 

Full details of the relevant regional priorities are set out in appendix B at the end of 

the document. 

 

Key Challenges identified from the National & Countywide 
Context 

1. Strategy and policy at a local level need to reflect the wider context of 

priorities at a national and regional level for older peoples housing. 

 

2. Ensuring the quantity and quality of housing for older people in Welwyn 

Hatfield  supports the regional strategies on ageing well and health and 

wellbeing, and works to reduce identified health inequalities4 in the borough  

 

  

                                                           
4 Hertfordshire County Council  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Page 28



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

13 
 

Welwyn Hatfield – Profile  

 
Welwyn Hatfield borough is located centrally within Hertfordshire with central London 
just 15 miles to the south of the borough boundary. The borough has two main towns 
Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield, as well as a number of large and small villages 
providing a mix of urban, suburban and rural areas 
 
Population Growth 
 
In line with National and regional trends, Welwyn Hatfield’s’ population continues to 
increase, the most recent population estimate for the borough5 was 116,000 people. 
Population predictions also signify a significant increase in the ageing population 
over the next 20 years. The proportion of people aged 65 and above is expected to 
increase from 16% to 19.5% of the total population by 2037 
 
Quality of Life & Levels of Deprivation 
Generally, the quality of life in Welwyn Hatfield is considered to be good. Welwyn 
Hatfield is ranked 266th out of the 326 local authorities in England in the 2015 
Indices of Multiple Deprivation (where 1 is the most deprived), placing it in the 20% 
least deprived local authority areas. 
 
Life expectancy is around two years above the national average at 84.8 for women 
and 81.5 for men (an average of 83.2), and the borough performs better than the 
national average on 17 of the 32 indicators in the Department of Health's Local 
Authority Health Profiles. However there are disparities in the health of those in the 
most and least deprived areas of the borough - average life expectancy varies from 
84.5 years in Welwyn East ward down to 75.2 years in Hatfield Central6. 
 
Health & Wellbeing 
 
Good quality well designed housing can maintain the overall health and wellbeing of 
older people, and significantly reduce demands and expenditure on the NHS. For 
example injuries due to falls among older people have been estimated to cost the 
state over £1 billion a year, 1 in 4 falls involves stairs and the majority take place in 
the home.  With a growing older population comes a predicted increase in health, 
care and support needs.  The table below shows other common health issue 
prevalent amongst the over 65’s  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                           
5 from mid-2014 ONS population predictions 
6 HCC JSNA 

Page 29



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

14 
 

No. of over 65’s in Welwyn Hatfield7 predicted to experience common health issues 
 

 

 
 
This inevitably leads to growth in the demand for adapted and specialist housing in 
the borough to support the health needs of older people and emphasises the need 
for people to think about and plan their housing for their changing needs earlier on. 
 

The Local Context 

 
WHBC Draft Local Plan 
 
This plan identifies the future need for specialist housing for older people in the 
borough, and sets out the predicted supply required to meet that need in Welwyn 
Hatfield: 
 

 At least 20% of all new dwellings on sites involving 5 or more new dwellings 
will meet standards for 'accessible and adaptable dwellings', 

 715 dwellings will be supported e.g. sheltered housing, flexi-care, extra-care, 
assisted living and other forms of supported housing, providing such 
developments are located in accessible locations. The equivalent of 5% of all 
new housing development at Strategic Development Sites (the largest 
development sites to be allocated in the borough) will be housing for older 
people. 

  330 extra bed-spaces to help meet the accommodation needs of those who 
need specialist supported residential or nursing care. 

 
WHCHT Independent Living Team 
 

We have an independent living team which provides housing and oversees support 
services for older people in the borough. They are responsible for: 
 

 approximately 1700 designated  Sheltered Housing Properties 

                                                           
7 Projecting Older People Population information ONS update 2014 Figures (POPPI) 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2014 2015 2020 2025 2030

P
re

d
ic

te
d

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
e

o
p

le

At Year

Falls Hospitalised

Dementia

Stroke

Heart Attack

Severe Depression

Page 30



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

15 
 

 A designated Flexi Care scheme (Chilton Green) comprising of 85 properties 
in total. A number of properties are available for flexi care clients depending 
on the mobility and currents needs. (Flexi Care provision is provided by on 
site carers available 24 hours a day)8.   

 1000 properties supplied with “lifeline” support services9 two 3rds to older 
people in the private sector and one 3rd in council accommodation 

 They also promote independent living through adaptations that make homes 
suitable for people with a physical disability. 

 They  work with partners at Herts County Council to meet the needs of older 
people through assistive technologies such as Tele-care 

 Manage a community bus service which helps to reduce social isolation 
providing regular local journeys, shopping trips and days out. 

 
Sheltered Housing 
 
There are a small number of properties in the council’s stock of sheltered housing 
schemes that are difficult to let. In the past some of these properties, when empty 
were transferred to general needs. However, the predicted increase in the older 
population could mean this is no longer sustainable in the long term, as the demand 
for sheltered housing may outweigh the supply if the predicted increases materialise.  
 
The borough has undertaken a review of the council’s homes for older people. The 
outcome is a number of recommendations for the physical improvement of most of 
the homes for older people and the replacement of a smaller number which are no 
longer fit for purpose. The next stage of this piece of work is developing a plan of 
improvements to take forward the recommendations for both the refurbishment and 
remodelling of accommodation and the replacement of existing sheltered / older 
person housing that is no longer fit for purpose and meets the needs for older people 
in the future.  
 
Dementia Aware 
 
Earlier this year Welwyn Hatfield became the latest borough to create a Dementia 
Action Alliance (DAA). The alliance is made up of a group of organisations who have 
joined together with the aim of building a dementia friendly community, and making 
Welwyn Hatfield a better place to live for people with dementia and their carers. The 
alliance consists of organisations such as Hertfordshire’s Police, Fire & Rescue, Age 
UK and Public Health England to name but a few. 
 

Local level Priorities  

 
Fuel Poverty  
 
Findings from a Housing Stock Condition survey of Welwyn Hatfield area covering all 
housing tenures has identified particular concentrations of fuel poverty and excess 

                                                           
8 Provides care and support for people who need more than sheltered, but are not yet requiring full time 
residential care. 
9 24hr emergency response, 8 mobile wardens ad a check-in service 

Page 31



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

16 
 

cold in the private sector in some wards. Local health data10 indicates there were an 
average of 25.9 excess winter deaths over the previous 3 years of which a number 
will be a direct result of older age and fuel poverty. This work underpins the 
development of Welwyn Hatfield’s Fuel Poverty Strategy, to support residents 
affected.  
 
Through the Council’s Asset Management Strategy we continue to review energy 
efficiency in our homes for older people, to develop programmes of improvement 
and to determine the fuel poverty challenges for residents.  
 
Under-occupation  

 
In 2012 there were reported to be 4.2 million11  older people in England living in 
homes that are too big for their needs12 in both the rented and owner occupied 
sector. (Data collated from the English Housing Survey 2014/15 suggests that figure 
may now have increased13)  There is a need to ensure that suitable housing options 
are available that meet the needs and aspirations of the older generation in Welwyn 
Hatfield, in order to encourage a higher number of older people to move or “right 
size” at the right time in their life. 
 
The council has an under occupation and overcrowding strategy the primary purpose 
of which is to make best use of council-owned homes. The strategy prioritises work 
around encouraging older single people or couples living in family sized 
accommodation to move to smaller, affordable and more manageable homes.  
 
Larger homes freed up in this way can be used to assist council tenants who are 
currently overcrowded or applicants on the council’s Housing Register in need of 
larger homes.   
 
Also to address under occupation, the allocations policy band E (no housing need) 
has remained a category for people aged over 60, this gives under-occupiers in 
various tenures the option to move into smaller properties or sheltered 
 
Maintaining independence  

It is a continuing priority in this borough to enable people to live independently in 
their own homes. 

In the private sector the council oversees the assessment and distribution of the 
disabled facilities grant. This grant allows people who are eligible, funding to install 
aids and adaptations that enable them to remain living independently in their home   

The council is developing an aids and adaptations policy which focuses on making 
best use of council–owned homes and also on securing value for money for 
expenditure on aids and adaptations.  Its approach includes providing aids and 
adaptations to enable older people to remain independent, but also to encourage 

                                                           
10 HCC JSNA Herts District Health Professionals Data 2015 
11 Older People’s Housing: Choice, Quality of Life, and Under-Occupation 2012 (Joseph Rowntree Foundation) 
12 Official definition Govt. Bedroom Standard - any single or couple household with three or more bedrooms ‘under-occupies’. 
13 Recent English Housing Survey data shows an increase generally in under-occupancy predominantly in the owner occupied 

sector,  with an increase generally in the older population this is more than likely to include an increase in older people under-
occupying 

Page 32



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

17 
 

households to consider other housing options such as moving to an alternative home 
which is better able to meet their housing and support needs.  

 
Affordable Housing Programme 

 
The Council has its own Affordable Housing Programme which can provide the 
framework and opportunity for the development and improvement of older people’s 
housing in the borough.   

As part of this programme, combined with the asset review, of Council housing in the 
Borough, will help inform options on the suitability of remodelling, refurbishing 
existing council older person accommodation. This will also help inform decisions on 
appropriate older persons new build accommodation that meets both the need and 
aspirations of residents seeking suitable accommodation as they age and both life 
style and housing requirements change.  

The council is also thinking innovatively to increase supply of affordable homes by 
looking into the viability of alternative schemes such as offering owner occupiers a 
council home in exchange for their property at a discounted rate. 

 

Full details of the local objectives that have influenced this strategy are set out in 
appendix C at the end of this document. 

 
 

Key challenges arising from the local context 

 

1. Developing partnerships to ensure the increased demand identified for 
specified housing for older people and specialist care facilities identified in the 
local plan is met. 

 
 

2. Recognition that some initiatives can be progressed more quickly than others 
and that a medium and longer term strategy and programme requires 
significant resources to meet objectives and that the council may need to 
revise and adapt its strategy as we progress.  
 

3. Encouraging use of the 10 HAPPI design principles into redevelopment of 
older peoples housing or any new developments that evolve in the borough 
 

4. Encouraging people to plan for and “right-size” at the right time, to reduce the 
number of more urgent “need based” moves when older people are in crisis 
because their housing no longer meets their needs 

 

5. Tackling under-occupation across tenure in the over 50s  

Page 33



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

18 
 

6. Improve the information available and methods of communication used to 
ensure that older people in the borough are well informed about the housing 
options available to them in later life and around the process of moving. 
 

7. Work in a harmonised way with HCC to ensure that strategies and plans are 
aligned and we maximise the opportunities that arise from close partnership 
working 

Resources 

This strategy has been developed against a challenging economic landscape, as 
well as a continuing programme of cuts in public spending; the council is having to 
respond to emerging legislation that impacts on other funding options councils have 
available 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016  
 
Whilst this act doesn’t directly relate to older peoples housing, it may well impact on 
the resources the council has available for improving existing or developing new 
homes for older people in the future. In order for the government to increase funding 
of the “Right to Buy” for housing association tenants, it requires that councils sell or 

pay a levy to keep the high-value empty stock that they own14.  

 
It is also still not yet clear whether improved homes for older people are included in 
the housing stock that may have to be sold or a levy paid to enable the council to 
keep them 

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016  

This act requires councils and housing associations to reduce rents by 1% per 
annum for four years from April 2016.  This measure again is likely to impact on the 
resources available for us and our partner registered providers (RPs) to develop new 
homes or invest in and redevelop its existing homes for older people. 
 

Housing Related Support  
 
Housing Related Support financed a number of services for older people including 
support to residents in sheltered housing, supported housing and some community 
alarm services.  The funding for this borough was administered by Hertfordshire 
County Council, but it was withdrawn completely by the Government in 2014.    
 
Welwyn Hatfield has worked innovatively through the independent living team to 
mitigate against these cuts and make their services cost effective. They have 
branched out and marketed their support services to other Council’s and external 
housing providers, such as B3 Living. They have also adapted their systems and 
technology to provide other services to external agencies such as emergency repairs 
reporting and lone worker systems and also negotiated charges with tenants for 
maintaining a level of housing support service.  

 

                                                           
14 Inside Housing – Summary analysis of Housing & Planning Act 2016 (19/5/16) 

Page 34



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

19 
 

Affordable Housing Programme Finance 
 

Plans to consider options on the suitability of remodelling and refurbishing the 
councils existing older peoples accommodation are medium and longer term 
aspirations. They are finance dependent and the relevant planning and development 
process takes time. 
 
The council has some funds available from the allowed amounts of retained Right to 
Buy Receipts to provide new homes, but it relies on resources from its Housing 
Revenue Account or its partnerships with Registered Providers. Both are affected 
financially by the legislation set out in previous paragraphs, and could impact on the 
ability to progress. 

 We also have to be aware that there may be future Government changes in both 
regulations and funding abilities. These may impact on longer term proposals, but 
the council will continue to seek funding opportunities and link up its work with asset 
management and business plans to deliver older person housing over the longer 
term. 

 

Challenges arising from resources 

 

1. Financing a more varied and improved housing offer for older people within 
our existing housing stock, when faced with potential cuts to social housing 
revenue. Innovative ways are going to be needed to make up loss of funds as 
well as keeping abreast of funding opportunities to progress 

 
2. Establishing partnerships for opportunities to develop new housing for older 

people when our partners are also faced with reduced funding and revenue 
 

3. Older people’s housing has specialised requirements and need for communal 
facilities that other developments don’t require and this may impact on 
scheme viability. 
 

  

Page 35



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

20 
 

Over 50’s Consultation  

 
We completed a borough wide consultation with residents over 50 from all tenures 
across the borough, to identify what people want and what their expectations are for 
future housing. The survey looked at respondents’ current housing, their future 
housing needs and intentions and their personal circumstances. This section 
highlights the key outcomes from the consultation, but there is also an associated 
report available which provides more detailed results of the consultation. This report 
is called “The Over 50’s Housing Consultation Report 2016” and can be found on the 
Council’s website. (Will be available at publication of the strategy) 

Key Consultation Outcomes 

 
Surveys 
 

1. Survey respondents were predominantly owner occupiers (60%), with 46% 
being mortgage free. The bulk of the remaining respondents rented from the 
council (29%) and 4% rented from a Housing Association.  

 
2. The majority of respondents intend to stay in the borough as they age and 

either buy outright (35%) or rent from the council (31%), renting from the 
private rented sector is the least preferred option. A good proportion of people 
(49%) saw themselves moving within the next 15 years 

 
3. A considerable percentage of respondents (52%) would consider having 

adaptations installed in their existing home which could enable them to remain 
living in their home independently for much longer. Almost half of those would 
be willing to pay for or make some financial contribution towards the 
adaptations. 

 
4. A bungalow is still the most sought after dwelling in the borough for older 

people (70.1%). However there was still a significant number of people that 
would consider apartment living, 39% would consider a flat above 1st floor 
(10.6% without a lift) and 33.9% would consider a flat on the ground floor. 
 

5. The top 5 most important features of a new home and all virtually as equally 
important, were: 

a. A spare bedroom 
b. An outdoor space 
c. Modern kitchen & bathroom 
d. Enough storage space 
e. Parking 

 
6. The 5 most important aspects when moving to a new home, in order of priority 

were: 
a. Being near shops, transport and facilities 
b. Friendly sociable neighbourhood 
c. Safety & security 
d. Having an outdoor space 

Page 36



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

21 
 

e. Being near friends and family 
 

7. Designated for older people or mixed age living? Only half the participants 
responded to this question and there was more or less an equal divide 
between those who preferred to live in communities of the same age 50+and 
those who wanted to live amongst mixed age communities 

  
8. Over 63% of participants would not consider moving to accommodation 

designated for the elderly 
 

9. Barriers for moving were predominantly emotional ties, but lack of affordable 
housing options was a concern this was closely followed by “ packing up 
being too daunting” 
 

10. Respondents were clear where to go for information on housing and many 
used the internet and were open to receiving digital information 
 

11. The survey asked owner occupiers whether they would consider schemes 
that have been implemented in other boroughs that involved the council taking 
over their property: 

a.  leasing it  to the council in exchange for an income towards residential 
care – 19% would, 41% expressed an interest in more information 

b.  selling it to the council at a discounted rate in exchange for a council 
dwelling – 15% would, 30% expressed an interest in more information  
which suggests there may be enough interest in this borough for us to 
investigate the viability of these types of scheme. 

 
In addition to the survey we also organised focus groups with representatives from 
the social rented sector and the owner occupied and private rented sector 

 

Focus Groups 

 
 
Social Housing representatives: 
 

 Current sheltered accommodation is poor; they wouldn’t choose to move to it. 
 There is a need for better design in the layout, larger rooms, storage space, 

modern facilities & parking. 
 Bungalows are the desired solution for most older people 
 What would encourage moving  especially with the lack of development in 

bungalows – higher financial incentives, and housing based on luxury 
retirement models were suggested 

 Future housing  for this age group should be in town centres, be near mixed 
age groups but not included with them –  participants preference in this cohort 
was for accommodation with a designated age group 50+ 

 
 
 

Page 37



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

22 
 

 
Owner Occupier and other Rented Representatives: 
 

 It was important to the group to recognise getting older alone doesn’t mean 
you don’t want to continue living the life you always have been. It’s usually life 
changing events such as deteriorating health and mobility or bereavement 
that restrict your options. 

 Housing location near shops, transport and facilities of high importance 
 Social inclusion is key – communal facilities are deemed essential, internal 

and external along with good management to encourage social participation. 
 a preference to live in mixed age communities, that encourage engagement 

and interaction between both 
 Significant improvements in the design of older persons housing is needed to 

encourage movement amongst older people, again based on the luxury 
retirement models, but with suggestions for reducing costs and social 
inclusion 

 Would like to see development that can meet changing needs, so people can 
move with limited upheaval to the next type of accommodation that meet their 
needs without leaving familiar surroundings and people 

 When the offer to older people has improved re-marketing and re-branding 
older peoples housing  was suggested 

 Participants indicated that they do not intend to rely on family for future 
support needs; know they have to provide for themselves practically and 
financially. No evidence that any planning was in place yet 

 

Key Challenges Identified from the consultation 

 

1. Improving and changing the public perception of older peoples housing; the 
number of people who wouldn’t consider designated accommodation for older 
people is high and perceptions of current sheltered is low. 

 

2. Better promote schemes in the borough that enable adaptations to be 
installed in people’s homes, to increase uptake and reduce the need for 
specialised housing. 
 

3. Breaking the cycle of demand for specific types of tenure e.g. “bungalows” 
particularly from the social rented sector. Although popular for older people 
bungalows are now considered from a development point of view as “grossly 
inefficient in terms of land use and the values they achieve”15 This would 
suggest fewer new developments of this type of housing will become available 
so different types of housing options need to be developed and promoted to 
older people. 

 

4. Providing a better and wider choice of housing options for older people in the 
borough that they want to live in and can afford. New developments are 

                                                           
15 Savills World Research – Spotlight Housing an ageing population Oct 2015 

Page 38



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

23 
 

needed informed by the results of this consultation, and existing stock needs 
to be improved 
 

5. Identifying and removing the barriers that are preventing older people from 
choosing to “right size” at the right time. People who live in good quality 
accommodation, that meets their changing needs are healthier and happier 
anything that prevents people achieving these needs to be addressed. 
Emotional ties we cannot do anything about, but providing practical help with 
packing, moving etc. could be a consideration. 
 

 

6. Work to remove social isolation of older people in the provision and design of 
their future housing. Loneliness and isolation amongst older people has been 
a focus of media attention recently and the negative impact on health and 
wellbeing are becoming widely known, the consultation highlighted that it is an 
important factor for future housing for older people in this borough. 

 

Supporting Action Plan 

The following action plan has been developed to address the key priorities in the 

short, medium and long term. As the Action Plan is implemented and work with our 

partners progresses, the Action Plan will be reviewed and updated.  

A performance management framework is in place in Housing and Community 

Services to monitor service outcomes. Monitoring and updating the plan will be the 

responsibility of the Housing Development Team.  

 

Page 39



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

24 
 

WHBC Older Person’s Housing Strategy Action Plan 

 

 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

1a To consider the options  for  3 
existing sheltered Housing 
schemes, as proposed by the  
sheltered housing review, as 
suitable for remodelling or 
redevelopment   

Housing 
Development  

March 
2018 

Outcome: Site / sites agreed 
which are to be remodelled or 
redeveloped to provide 
suitable older person housing 
or other  

  

1b To progress one of the site options 
derived from 1a (above) for 
redevelopment  

Housing 
Development  

Dec 2019  Outcome: A relevant planning 
application submitted for 
development of agreed site 

  

1c To review the suitability of sites in a 
possible phase 3 (Affordable 
Housing Programme) development 
programme with Registered 
providers to include an element of 
older person homes  

Housing 
Development  

June  
2018 

Outcome: Sites selected and 
considered for development in 
readiness for a planning 
submission  

  

1d To consider the HRA assets , as 
part of the asset review and  a wider 
site assembly that offers possible 
future development sites that 
include older person housing    

Housing 
Development  

Dec 2018 Outcome: Sites suitable for 
future development that are to 
include older persons housing 
identified. 

  

1e As part of Asset Management 
Strategy completion of a number of 
planned reviews of  assets in 
Sheltered and Older peoples 
housing stock : 

Property services 
/ Independent 
Living  

Dec 2018  
 
 
 

  

Aim 1: Have a range of good quality, appropriate and affordable housing 
available across all tenures to meet changing needs. 

 

P
age 40



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

25 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

 To identify a necessary 
programme of 
refurbishment to existing 
sheltered housing  
schemes  

 To evaluate existing 
bungalow architypes with 
a view to the potential for 
re-modelling 

 To assess the condition 
of flats for older people, 
with a view to returning 
those not fit for purpose 
to the general needs 
stock 

 To determine energy 
efficiency and identify 
fuel poverty challenges 

 

Outcome: An agreed 
programme of sheltered 
accommodation refurbishment 
works  
 
Outcome: An agreed 
programme for bungalow re-
modelling (18 units) 
 
Outcome: An identified number 
of flats to be transferred from 
older peoples housing to the 
general needs housing stock 
 
 
Outcome: an agreed 
programme of work to improve 
energy efficiency and reduce 
fuel poverty for older residents. 
 

1f Monitor the delivery of the specialist 
housing target set out in the local 
plan for provision of additional bed 
spaces for residential and nursing 
care.  
 

Planning Annual 
Monitoring 
Report 

Outcome: An additional supply 
of specialist housing. 
Measure: Number of 
completions against target 

  

1g Monitor the delivery of housing 
designed for older people against 
the supported net increase set out 
in the local plan.  

Planning Annual 
Monitoring 
Report 

Outcome: An additional supply 
of housing designed for older 
people. 
Measure: Number of 
completions against policy 
objective. 

  

P
age 41



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

26 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

1h Monitor the requirement for 
accessible and adaptable housing 
set out in the local plan.  

Planning Annual 
Monitoring 
Report 

Outcome: An increase in the 
number of dwellings built to 
these standards. 
Measure: Post adoption of the 
plan – at least 20% of new 
homes (net) on sites of 5 or 
more dwellings meet this 
standard. 

  

1i Investigate the viability of 
developing a scheme for the council 
to purchase the owner occupied 
properties from older people and 
rehouse them in suitable council 
homes 

Housing Strategy 
& Development  

June 2018 
 
 
 
March 
2019 

Outcome: a business plan that 
supports the viability or not of 
a policy / scheme buying or 
buying back owner occupied 
homes from older people and 
rehousing them.  
A policy/ scheme that sets out 
the criteria for buying or buying 
back family homes from older 
people supplying a smaller 
property to rent that better 
meets their needs. 

  

1j Consult with Registered Providers 
with housing stock in the borough to 
understand what plans they have 
for providing or improving housing 
for older people locally 

Housing 
Development 
and Strategy 
Manager 

March 
2018 

Outcome: An understanding of 
Partners Strategic approach to 
older persons housing that 
may lead to development 
opportunities for the Council’s 
own affordable homes 
programme.  

  

1k Identify and implement a target for 
improving standards in the private 
rented sector 

Private Sector 
Housing 
Manager 

Annually Outcome: Establish a process 
to monitor the interaction with 
the PRS and older people.  
Use intelligence to effectively 
target and improve PRS 
homes for older people. 

  

P
age 42



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

27 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

Measure: Referrals made to 
the healthy homes project  

1l Re-brand and re-market older 
people’s housing, to eliminate 
stereotypes, promote different living 
opportunities  and broaden the 
outlook for older people when it 
comes to decisions about future 
housing 

 

Independent 
Living 

March 
2019 

Outcome: set up a working 
group to review the negative 
connotations associated with 
current older peoples housing 
(consultation outcome). 
Develop ways to improve 
perceptions  
Measure: Increase uptake in 
homes for older people, 
increased availability of family 
sized homes. 

  

 

 

 
Aim 2: Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible. 

 

 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update June 2016 Status 

2a Ensure the current contract provider 
meets their obligation to market and 
promote the availability of Disabled 
Facility Grant (DFG) funding and 

Private Sector 
Housing 

March 2018 
Rolled out 
yearly 

Outcome & Measure: Year on 
year 10% increase on previous 
years take up of DFG’s 

  

P
age 43



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

28 
 

the Better Care fund to increase the 
uptake in schemes.  

2b In-line with the Councils Asset 
Management Programme  and the 
emerging Aids and Adaptations 
policy, actively renovate and adapt 
property where appropriate to a 
standard for older people 

  
Property 
Services / 
Independent 
Living 

March 2019 
 

Outcome: Completion of initial 
pilot (Tudor) with 
recommendations for future 
projects. 

  

2c Review the strategy and process 
around the Overcrowding and 
Under occupation scheme to 
increase the uptake of right sized 
and  more suitable housing for older 
people 

Housing 
Operations 

March 2018-
March 2019 

Outcome & Measure: 10% 
increase on previous years 
uptake 

  

2d Work with partners at Herts County 
Council and the Assisted 
Technology Group to promote the 
benefits of and increase access to 
Assisted technology in the homes of 
those that need it 

Independent 
living 

March 2019 Outcome & Measure: 10% 
increase on previous year in the 
number of residents benefiting 
from the various forms of 
assisted technology within their 
homes. 
Local needs are reflected in the 
Countywide Strategy 

  

 Support partners at Herts in 
extending the Specialist Care at 
Home Programme. 

  Outcome: work with Herts to 
explore how to  better join up 
this resource with the voluntary 
and community sector 
Measure: Year on year increase 
in the number of referrals from 
hospitals and the community to 
benefit from the short term 
enabling home care support.  

  

 

P
age 44



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

29 
 

Aim 3: Encourage partnership working between all stakeholders to improve 
the overall quality of life experienced by older people 

 

 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

3a Work with the Countywide  Strategic 
Board  for Supported Housing to  
develop a Supported 
Accommodation Strategy  

Head of  
Community & 
Housing Strategy   

March 2019 Outcome: The Supported 
Accommodation Strategy 
reflects the local needs 
identified in the Council’s Older 
Persons Housing Strategy 

  

3b Develop partnership arrangements 
with HCC to better understand the 
needs of older people with special 
needs and help HCC in meeting the 
identified need  

Head of  
Community & 
Housing Strategy 

 Outcome:  working together to 
meet the identified need of 
older people with special needs 
Measure: Implementation of 
the Adults Strategic 
Accommodation Board 

  

3c Continue the work of Safer 
Together (Community Safety 
Partnership) increasing awareness 
of safety and crime prevention 
measures amongst older people.   

Community 
Partnership 
Team 

Ongoing Outcome: a reduction in the 
number of injuries to older 
people and a reduced number 
of older people falling victim to 
crime. 
Measure: Lower hospital 
admissions from accidents and 
falls in the over 65’s 
Reduction on the victim of 
crime statistics  amongst the 
over 65’s 

  

3d Work with partners on the Boroughs 
local Loneliness Project to identify 
local resources and support 
available to reduce social isolation 

Housing 
Operations 

Dec 2018 Outcome: Frontline staff have 
the knowledge and ability to 
signpost the older customer to 
local services and activities. 

  

P
age 45



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

30 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

amongst older residents e.g. Herts 
Help 

Measure: 10% year on year 
increase in referrals to support 
and services for older people 

3e Work in partnership with Herts. 
County Council on their ‘Community 
Conversation’ work, to map and 
develop services locally 

Head of 
Community & 
Housing Strategy 

 Outcome improved information 
and services available locally 
to help reduce social isolation. 
Measure: a joint HCC and WH 
working group set up to explore 
the outcomes of Community 
Conversation ‘ and how it can 
be used to benefit local people. 

  

3f Improve the lives of people living 
with dementia by: 
Continuing to work in partnership as 
members of Welwyn Hatfield’s 
Dementia Alliance. 
  
Support  the principals and raise 
awareness of Herts County 
Councils Dementia  and Self- 
Management strategies where 
possible   

Housing 
Operations / 
Independent 
living / Private 
Sector Housing 

March 2019 Outcome: Frontline staff 
trained and updated on 
dementia awareness, in order 
to be able to:  
identify and adequately assist 
customers with dementia who 
access our service 
Raise awareness of what’s 
available countywide  

  

3g Have available for future developers 
of older peoples housing, 
information on the benefits and 
demand for the older community of 
providing communal facilities that 
allow and encourage social 
integration for older people 
 

Housing Strategy 
and 
Development 

March 2019 Outcome: Summary 
information from the Happi 
reports / design principles 
promoting the benefit for older 
people and savings on 
healthcare and support for 
developer web pages 

  

P
age 46



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

31 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

3h In partnership with HCC review and 
improve the information and advice 
available to older people to help 
them make informed choices about 
their housing options, when to move 
and how to facilitate a move.  
 

Housing Needs 
Manager 

March 2018 Outcome: relevant up to date 
information and signposts 
available in print and on our 
web pages, that will assist 
older people in the borough to 
make choices and access the 
support and housing they 
need. 
Measure: 10% increase on 
previous year of older people 
moving to accommodation that 
better meets their needs. 
10% decrease in crisis moves  

  

3i Work with partners on the Fuel 
Poverty Action group to develop 
and implement the councils fuel 
poverty strategy and supporting 
action plan  

 

Private Sector 
Housing 
Manager 

March 2018 Outcome: implementation of a 
current fuel poverty strategy in 
the borough with a supporting 
action plan. 
Measure: reduction in the 
current average number of 
preventable winter related 
deaths in over 65s.  

  

3j Support the provision of future 
housing specifically designed for 
older people in accessible locations, 
so that wherever possible, residents 
have access to public transport, 
shops and facilities to help promote 
independence and social 
integration.  

 Housing 
Development /  
Planning 

Ongoing Outcome: Number of new 
homes specifically designed for 
older people completed each 
year 

  

3k Use the intelligence gathered from 
the Council’s tenancy audits and 
other customer engagement, to 
identify vulnerable and vulnerable 

Housing 
Operations 

Nov 2018 Outcome: To have an agreed 
protocol to identify vulnerable 
and vulnerable elderly tenants. 
 

  

P
age 47



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

32 
 

No. Action 
 

Lead By When Outcome/Measure Update  Status 

older people living in council 
housing, for appropriate priority for 
services such as maintenance, 
housing management and welfare 
services. 
 

Measure:  Agreed processes in 
place to have increased priority 
for essential housing and 
welfare services to meet the 
identified vulnerable tenants 
needs (e.g. priority 2hr repair 
for nil heating in winter). 
 

 

P
age 48



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

33 
 

Glossary of terms and Abbreviations 

 
Affordable housing 
Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable rented and intermediate 
housing provided to eligible households whose needs could not be met by the 
market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 
Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for 
future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision. 
Affordable housing programme 
This is a plan that seeks to increase the number of new affordable homes in the 
borough over a set period of time (2021) 
Aids and adaptations. 
These are assistance aids or alterations, supplied and paid for by the council, to 
enable people with disabilities, mobility problems and frailty issues, to live more 
comfortably in their home; they can include things like ramps, grab rails or level entry 
showers etc. 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
These are means tested grants of up to £30,000 which are available to disabled 
children and adults who need to adapt their homes to meet their needs. This could 
include installing a wet room, widening door frames or a stair lift. 
Fuel Poverty 
Households are defined as being in fuel poverty if they would need to spend more 
than 10% of their income on heating their home to adequate warmth (21 degrees for 
the main living area and 18 degrees for other occupied rooms). 
Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
This is an overall measure of multiple deprivation experienced by people living in an 
area and is calculated for every Lower layer Super Output Area (LSOA) in England. 
It takes into consideration seven different dimensions of deprivation, including 
income, employment, health and disability, education, crime, barriers to housing and 
services, and living environment. 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) formerly Primary Care Trusts and local 
authorities are required to produce a JSNA of the health and wellbeing of their local 
community. This is a requirement of The Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act 2007. A JSNA data set provides powerful indicators to establish current 
and future health needs of the local population 
Local Plan 
This is a key planning document. It sets out the council’s strategy and objectives for 
planning in the borough until 2037. It includes new affordable housing, employment, 
shopping and leisure, the environment, travel and infrastructure. Broad locations of 
where development should take place are also identified. 
Private Sector Stock Condition Survey 
Surveys are carried out on a regular basis to maintain a detailed picture of housing 
conditions in owner occupied and private rented homes. It covers a variety of topics, 
including fuel poverty, category 1 hazards and standards in HMOs 
 
 
 

Page 49



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

34 
 

Registered Provider (RP) 
Independent, not for profit, social businesses that provide affordable homes for 
people in housing need. They are also known as Registered Social Landlords 
(RSLs), housing associations and Private Registered Providers (PRPs). 
Social rented housing 
This is owned by local authorities and private registered providers for which guideline 
target rents are determined through the national rent regime. It may also be owned 
by other persons and provided under equivalent rental arrangements, as agreed with 
the local authority or with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  
Social isolation 
This is defined as the complete or near-complete lack of contact between an 
individual and society. Becoming more prevalent amongst older people due to lack of 
friend / family network in the area or health and mobility issues   
Spare room subsidy 
In April 2013 there was a change to housing benefit for social rented tenants based 
on the number of bedrooms that the household needs. Tenants deemed to be under-
occupying their homes by one bedroom will have their housing benefit payment 
reduced by the value of 14% of their eligible rent, and household’s under-occupying 
by two or more bedrooms will see a 25% reduction.  
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
This is an assessment of the estimated demand for market housing and need for 
affordable housing in a defined geographical area. It identifies the scale and mix of 
housing and the range of tenure that the local population is likely to need. In order to 
do this it also considers future demographic trends. 
Supported housing 
A housing service aimed at helping people live more stable lives, including people 
with learning disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health issues, as well as those 
who may have been homeless. 
Under-Occupation. 
This is when someone has more bedrooms in their home than they need (to sleep 
the household). New rules came in for social rented tenants in 2013, with an 
assessment process they can lose benefit they receive if they under-occupy 

  

Page 50



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

35 
 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A:  National Priorities Influencing the Strategy 

 
Population Growth 

The population of the UK 16 totalled 63.7 million people and is predicted to rise to 

73.3 million by 2037. Currently 19.4m people in the UK are over 60 years of age, and 

as a result of the baby booms of post war Britain (now in their late 60s) and the 1960’s 

(aged around 50yrs) these cohorts of people will contribute significantly to the ageing 

of the UK population, which is now predicted to rise to 31.1million people over 60 by 

2037.  
The tables below give an illustration of the current predicted growth rate in men and women 

between 60-100yrs of age over the next 20 years17. 

 

Source ONS Mid-2012 population growth predictions

 
Source ONS Mid-2012 population growth predictions 

                                                           
16 office of National Statistics mid-year population growth statistics for 2012 
17 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/nationalpopulationpro
jections/2013-11-06#changing-age-structure 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 100m
al

e
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 in

 m
ill

io
n

s

Age in Years 

Predicted Growth in the UK male population

mid-2012

mid-2037

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 100

Fe
m

al
e

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 in
 m

ill
io

n
s

Age in Years

Predicted Growth in the UK female 
population

mid-2012

mid-2037

Page 51

http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/nationalpopulationprojections/2013-11-06#changing-age-structure
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/nationalpopulationprojections/2013-11-06#changing-age-structure


Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

36 
 

 

Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods: A National Strategy for Housing in 

an Ageing Society 2008 Central Government acknowledged some time ago that 

most homes and communities are not designed to meet people’s changing needs as 

they grow older and the need for a better and wider range of housing options for 

older people is required. “Lifetime homes, lifetime neighbourhoods” is a series of 

policies setting out plans for improvements.  

 

Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation (HAPPI), an ‘all 

parliamentary group on housing and care for older people’ was commissioned from 

the above set of policies to form an ‘innovation panel’, designed to advance existing 

good practice and promote new ideas. HAPPI was established in June 2009. They 

looked to challenge the negative connotations associated with older peoples housing 

and come up with new and innovative designs for future development. They 

determined a number of benefits that would be gained through improved choice and 

design in housing, particularly around the health and wellbeing of older people 

 

There were 4 key recommendations from the panel: 

 

1. The time has come for a national effort to build the homes that will meet our 

needs and aspirations as we all grow older.   

2. We should all plan ahead positively, creating demand for better choice 

through a greater range of housing opportunities.   

3. Housing for older people should become an exemplar for mainstream 

housing, and meet higher design standards for space and quality.   

4. Local Planning Authorities should play a key role to ensure delivery of 

desirable housing in great places, tuned in to local need and demand. 

 

The panel devised the 10 HAPPI Principles, 10 key design elements now considered 

essential in the development of older peoples housing: 

  

• Space and flexibility 

• Daylight in the home and in shared spaces 

• Balconies and outdoor space 

• Adaptability and ‘care ready’ design 

• Positive use of circulation space 

• Shared facilities and ‘hubs’ 

• Plants, trees, and the natural environment 

• Energy efficiency and sustainable design 

• Storage for belongings and bicycles 

• External shared surfaces and ‘home zones’ 

 

 

Page 52



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

37 
 

HAPPI2 (2012) A Plan for Implementation this report was the outcome of a five 
month inquiry into the progress in implementing the recommendations and design 
criteria set out in the first report. Here they concluded that there were far reaching 
benefits from developing good quality housing for older people including: 

  a reduction in health and social care costs 

  and the ability to free up much needed family housing  

A series of recommendations were made to encourage movement in the housing 
market, improve the health and wellbeing of older people whilst creating new 
housing options for younger people and families. 

 

Laying the foundations: A Housing Strategy for England 2012, in this strategy 
the Government re-iterated its commitment to improving housing and opportunities 
for independent living for older people ‘Empowering Independence’ it included an 
additional commitment to increase Disabled Facilities Grant Funding to adapt 
existing homes for older people from £169 million (2010/11) to £185 million 
(2014/15). They also gave an undertaking to enable people to make an informed 
choice about their housing and care in later life, by investing £1.5 million in the “First 
Stop” information and advice service. 
 

Care Act 2014 emphasises the role good quality housing plays in promoting wellbeing 
and preventing older people from reaching crisis point. It is referred to primarily in 
terms of the built environment, and links housing to care and heath to outline how 
housing related support services are key prevention tools to allow people to remain 
independent and healthy in their own homes for longer. 
 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 sets out the government’s intentions around 
the funding of the Right to Buy for housing association tenants through a levy paid to 
government by local authorities based on an estimate of the high-value empty stock 

councils own18. Whilst it doesn’t directly relate to older peoples housing, it may well 

impact on the resources the council has available for improving existing or 
developing new homes for older people in the future. It is also not yet clear whether 
improved homes for older people are included in the housing stock that may have to 
be sold or a levy paid to government to enable the council to keep them 

The act also requires social landlords outside London to charge full market rent to 
tenants with incomes above £30,00019.  This may require WHBC to review its 
Allocations Scheme for allocating council and housing association homes in the 
area, for example, to look at introducing a test of resources (income) and ability to 
pay rent.  

 

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 introduces the requirement for council 
and housing association rents to be reduced by 1% per annum for four years from  

                                                           
18 Inside Housing – Summary analysis of Housing & Planning Act 2016 (19/5/16) 
19 In London the equivalent household income is £45,000 

Page 53



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

38 
 

April 2016.  This measure again is likely to impact on the resources available for 
councils like WHBC to invest in and redevelop its existing homes for older people or 
develop new homes. 
 

 
Positive Ideas HAPPI3 Making Retirement Living a Positive Choice (2016)  
The latest report from the All Parliamentary Group on Housing and Care for Older 
People20  covers the UK’s progress with the improved housing offer for older people. 
It found the pace of progress is slow. This report urges policymakers, house-builders 
and other stakeholders to focus on the concerns and issues that deter some people 
from moving to specialist housing, such as management, fees and costs involved in 
moving, it also urges local authorities to acknowledge the social and economic 
benefits of “right-sizing” in their local plans and planning policies. 
 
The report also highlighted that ‘Later life buyers’ are owner occupying £820 billion of 
property wealth.  Eight million people over 60, in 7 million homes, are interested in 
‘downsizing’ or ‘right sizing’. If half did so, 3.5 million properties – of which two thirds 
are family homes with three or four bedrooms – would become available, unlocking 
18% of the property market.  
 
This is further borne out by published reports from Savills - Housing an Ageing 
Population (Oct 15) and Knight Franks – Retirement Housing Report 2016 which 
also support the theory that improving the housing offer for older people will help 
alleviate the housing crisis, improve health & wellbeing and reduce the cost of health 
and support to the public purse. There are calls on Government to increase 
incentives for older people such as removing stamp duty for retired people or 
financing the affordability gap in housing for older people.  
  

                                                           
20 HAPPI3 Making Retirement Living a Positive Choice 

Page 54



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

39 
 

Appendix B: Countywide Priorities Influencing the Strategy 

 

Countywide Context (Hertfordshire) 

Ageing Well in Hertfordshire Strategy 2015-2019 is in place and written prior to 
Care Act 2014 it sets out a number of key strategic outcomes for the HCC Council to 
take into account when tackling accommodation for older people. They are: 
 

 I am safe and secure in my own home 
 I am supported to stay emotionally well and happy 
 Making my own choices about the care and support I need 
 I have access to high quality end of life care that is joined up to 

meet my needs 
 I have a range of positive things to do 
 I am supported to eat well and stay fit and healthy 
 Having choice about the paid care workers involved in my care 

 

Herts. County Council’s Market Position Statement for Older People (2015) is a 
report published by the county council which sets out its requirements for the future 
delivery of high quality services for older people in Hertfordshire and identifies gaps 
in service provision. Future requirements for older people in Hertfordshire are wide-
ranging covering: 

 assistive and other technology 

 increasing the capacity of the voluntary and community sector to deliver care 
and support 

 further development of Herts. Healthy Homes 

 a county-wide alarm system 

 more Flexi care schemes 

 a Hertfordshire Care Standard, increasing standards in day care, residential 
care, short break care, flexi care and dementia services, working towards 
improved social and health care integration 

 transport 

 end of life care  

 

Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020 is based on the 4 main 
life stages starting well, developing well, living & working well and ageing well 

“Ageing well” impacts on the council’s approach to housing for older people, it 
commits to: 

 Enable people to live in their own homes for as long as possible and reduce 
social isolation in people aged over 65, ensuring good support and access to 
services up to the end of life. 

 Work together to develop different kinds of accommodation for older people 
who need support to be independent 

 Improve the quality of our care homes and ensure equitable health services 
are available to their residents 

 Seek to reduce preventable winter deaths in people aged 65+. 
. 

Page 55



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

40 
 

Disabled Facilities Grants underpin the continued independence of a significant 
number of older people in the borough.  Hertfordshire County Council is currently 
working on a project with the county’s ten district councils on the future delivery of 
DFGs to private sector homes.  The outcome of the project will be an agreed funding 
and delivery model. 

Development of Herts. County Council Accommodation Strategy, in July 2015 
Hertfordshire County Council began the process of developing an Accommodation 
Strategy with partners involved in the provision of accommodation and 
accommodation-related support for vulnerable adults in Hertfordshire. Vulnerable 
adults include, amongst others, older people with physical disability or mental illness. 

The aim of the Accommodation Strategy is to ensure that local partners maximise 
their resources in bringing together the various functions of commissioning, 
assessment, capital development, housing management and service provision. By 
doing so, they can ensure that vulnerable adults achieve similar parity with the rest 
of the population in being able to access good quality, affordable housing in order to 
live normal lives. 

 

  

Page 56



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

41 
 

Appendix C Local Level Priorities 
 
WHBC Draft Local Plan21 has identified a local need to provide more specified 
housing designed for older people and more new specialist care facilities. The need 
identified in the plan is: 

 Accessible and Adaptable dwellings: At least 20% of all new dwellings on 
sites involving 5 or more new dwellings will meet standards for 'accessible 
and adaptable dwellings', the delivery of which should be distributed across 
market and affordable tenures his proportion may be varied where a 
proportion of dwellings are proposed to meet standards for 'wheelchair user 
dwellings' 

 

 715 dwellings will be supported to help meet the varied housing needs of an 
ageing population, through the provision of a range of housing options such 
as sheltered housing, flexi-care, extra-care, assisted living and other forms of 
supported housing, provided such developments are located in accessible 
locations. Around 5% of all new housing delivered at Strategic Development 
Sites should comprise housing which is specially designed for older people. 

 
 Specialist housing: In addition to the overall housing target, a net increase of 

around 330 bed-spaces to help meet the accommodation needs of those who 
need specialist (Use Class C2) supported residential or nursing care will be 
supported in the borough's towns and excluded villages. 

 
 

WHBC’s Housing & Homelessness Strategy 2013-18 is the overarching policy 
that sets out the council’s long term plans for housing. It has five key priorities one of 
which is meeting the housing needs of older people and other vulnerable groups in 
the borough. 

The key issues identified in the Housing and Homelessness Strategy around 

meeting the needs of older people are as follows: 

 High levels of fuel poverty amongst the over 65s 

 Despite council-owned homes being in high demand, some council-owned 
homes for older people (sheltered homes) are hard to let  

 A considerable proportion of older tenants in general needs council-owned 
homes are under occupying. 

 Under-occupation is also an issue in the private rented sector and so this 
needs to be addressed  

 An improved range of housing options, support and advice services are 
needed for older people in the borough 

 
WHBC’s development of an Under-occupation and Overcrowding Strategy, the 
primary purpose of which is to make best use of council-owned homes. A 
considerable number of older people under-occupy their homes. With social tenants 
aged over 65 being exempt from the spare room subsidy there is less incentive for 

                                                           
21 Policy SP 7 WHBC Draft Local Plan 2016-2037 

Page 57



Draft Older Persons Housing Strategy Amended v10 Author R.Sesstein 

42 
 

these households to move. The strategy prioritises work around encouraging older 
single people or couples living in family sized accommodation to “right size”. Move to 
smaller, affordable and more manageable homes. Larger homes freed up in this way 
can be used to assist council tenants who are currently overcrowded or applicants 
on the council’s Housing Register in need of larger homes.   

WHBC emerging Aids and adaptations policy also focuses on making best use of 
council–owned homes and also on securing value for money for expenditure on aids 
and adaptations.  This approach includes providing aids and adaptations to enable 
older people to remain independent and encouraging households to consider other 
housing options such as moving to an alternative home which is better able to meet 
their housing and support needs.  This area of work is affected by a review of 
Disabled Facilities Grants activities at county level which was mentioned earlier in 
the report 
 
 

Page 58



Part I 
Item No: 8 
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 
Recommendations from the Cabinet on 5 September 2017:- 
 
(b) External Auditor Appointment  

 
The Cabinet considered the arrangements for the appointment of an 
external auditor from 2018/19. 
 
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 abolished the Audit 
Commission and required principal local authorities to appoint their own 
external auditors by 31 December 2017 for the audit of their accounts from 
2018/19.  
 
The Council agreed at its special meeting in 6 February 2017 to opt into the 
national scheme for auditor appointments undertaken by the Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) (Minute 44 refers).  Following a 
procurement exercise, PSAA had begun the consultation process with 
individual authorities about their proposed appointment and a response to 
this was required by 22 September2017.   
 
The Cabinet RECOMMENDS the Council to accept the proposed 
appointment of Ernst and Young LLP to audit the accounts of the Council 
for five years from 2018/19 and to give delegated authority to the Executive 
Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) to respond to the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd consultation accordingly. 
 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8b



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Part I 
Main authors: Ka Ng  
Executive Member: Duncan Bell 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 5 SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES) 

EXTERNAL AUDITOR APPOINTMENT 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The Local Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) abolished the Audit 
Commission, and required principal local authorities to appoint their own external 
auditors by 31 December 2017 for the audit of their accounts from 2018/19.  

1.2 The Council agreed in February 2017 to opt into the national scheme for auditor 
appointments undertaken by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).  
Following a procurement exercise, PSAA has begun the consultation process 
with individual authorities with regards to their proposed appointment and the 
purpose of this report is to seek approval to respond to this consultation before 
the deadline of 22 September.   

 
2 Recommendations 

2.1 That Cabinet recommends to Council to accept the proposed appointment of 
Ernst & Young LLP to audit the accounts of the Council for five years from 
2018/19 and that delegated authority is given to the Executive Director 
(Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) to respond to the PSAA 
consultation accordingly. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Local authority external auditors have, since the mid-1980s been commissioned 
or carried out by the Audit Commission. However, the Local Audit & 
Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) abolished the Audit Commission, and requires 
principal local authorities such as Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council to appoint 
their own external auditors from 2018/19. 

3.2 In July 2016, PSAA was specified by the Secretary of State as an appointing 
person and had since developed a national appointment scheme.  Subsequently, 
the Council agreed to opt into the national auditor appointment scheme in 
February 2017. 

3.3 Following a procurement exercise, PSAA announced on 15 August 2017 the 
proposed external auditor appointment to each opted-in authority.  The proposed 
appointment to audit the accounts of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council for five 
years from 2018/19 is Ernst & Young LLP. 

3.4 PSAA is required to consult the authority about the proposed appointment and 
the Council will need to respond by 22 September 2017. 

Page 61



2 
 

3.5 There are two options available to the Council: 

3.5.1 Option 1 – Accept the proposed appointment 

3.5.2 Option 2 – Objecting to the proposed appointment, the following reasons are 
deemed to be acceptable by the PSAA: 

 there is an independence issue in relation to the firm proposed as the auditor, 
which had not previously been notified to PSAA;  

 there are formal and joint working arrangements relevant to the auditor’s 
responsibilities, which had not previously been notified to PSAA; or  

 a history of inadequate service from the proposed firm.   

3.6 Given the fact that Ernst & Young LLP is the Council’s current external auditor, a 
further 5 year contract will ensure continuity and this will minimise the level of 
disruption to the finance team given that there are established audit practices and 
approaches that both of the teams are already familiar with.  This is particularly 
important as the statutory timetable for the completion of statement of accounts 
audit will be brought forward by two months from next year.  Therefore the 
recommendation will be for the council to accept the proposed appointment. 

3.7 The PSAA Board will approve all proposed appointments from 2018/19, following 
consultation with audited bodies, at its meeting in mid-December. The Board’s 
decision on the appointment of auditors is final. The Council will be informed in 
writing the final appointment by the end of December 2017.   

Implications 

4 Legal Implications 

4.1 The failure to appoint an auditor must be reported to the Secretary of State, who 
may direct an authority to appoint a named auditor or appoint an auditor on that 
authority’s behalf. 

5 Financial Implications 

5.1 The current external audit fee is around £63,000 and the proposed fees for 
2018/19 is expected to be published in March 2018.   

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 Not accepting the proposed appointment may lead to a change in external 
auditor, which may lead to more disruption during the audit process.  Also there 
may be additional work for the finance team to assist with the transitional period. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications. 

  

Page 62



3 
 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 The appointment of external audit has been done as part of a national 
procurement exercise. 

9 Climate Change Implications 

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications to consider. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority of engaging 
with our communities and provide value for money and specifically with regard to 
delivering value for money. 

11 Equalities and Diversities 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals as there are no equalities or diversities issues arising from the 
report. 

 
Name of author Ka Ng 
Title Executive Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
Date 17 August 2017 
 
 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Graham Seal 
For Resolution 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL– 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report considers the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel (IRP) at their meeting on the 11 July 2017. 

1.2 The Chief Executive’s report and the minutes of the IRP meeting on the 11 July 
2017 are set out as background papers to this report including Appendix B.  

2 Recommendation 

2.1 Council accepts the recommendation of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
and approves the proposed level of Members’ Basic and Special Responsibility 
Allowances as set out in Appendix B, payable with effect from 1 July 2017. 

2.2 Council authorises the Monitoring Officer to make any consequential 
amendments to the Constitution as are required. 

3 Financial Implications 

3.1 As set out in the background papers. 

4 Legal Implications 

4.1 The Council must set members’ allowances in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003. Before an authority makes or amends a scheme, it 
has a legal duty to have regard to the recommendations made by its IRP. 

5 Explanation 

5.1 As set out in the background papers.  

6 Background papers: 

1. Chief Executive’s report to the IRP dated June 2017. 

2. Minutes of the IRP meeting held on 11 July 2017. 

 
 
 
Rob Bridge 
Chief Executive 
August 2017 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
11 July 2017 
 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL* held on Tuesday 
11 July 2017 at 3.00pm at the Council Offices, Welwyn Garden City.  
 
* Reporting to Council 
 
PRESENT: C. Novelli 

P.Raynsford 
 

OFFICIALS Chief Executive (Rob Bridge) 
PRESENT: Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) (Nick Long) 
                        Head of Law and Administration and Monitoring Officer (Margaret Martinus)  
                        Governance Services Manager (G.R.Seal) 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN: 
 

The Panel continued with the previously agreed arrangement not to appoint a 
Chairman. 

 
2. APOLOGY: 
 

An apology for absence was received from D.Tabraham-Palmer. 
   

3. WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME: 
 
3.1. Review of the Scheme 

 
           The report of the Chief Executive sought a recommendation from the Panel on a 

review of the level of allowances to be paid to Members for 2017/18 with effect from 
1 July 2017. 

3.2    Financial Implications  

           The current level of payments set out in the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 
2016/17 is attached at Appendix A and the proposed level of payments for 2017/18 is 
attached at Appendix B. 

          There was a new Cabinet Panel this year as the former Cabinet Housing and Planning 
Panel had been replaced by a Cabinet Housing Panel and a Cabinet Planning and 
Parking Panel giving an additional special responsibility allowance for the Chairman of 
£3884, but this amount was offset by a reduction in Lead Members from three to two 
and there was a saving of  £1,202 as the Appeals Committee had not been re-
appointed. 

           The additional cost of an increase in the level of basic allowance and special 
responsibility allowances by 1% in line with the national agreement for staff was £ 
3,640.  This could be partially offset by the saving from the special responsibility 

Page 67



- 2 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
11 July 2017 
 

 

allowance for the Chairman of the Appeals Committee and the remaining additional 
cost could be contained within the current overall annual budget of £348,500. 

3.3     Background  

           Since the review by the Panel of the level of allowances for 2013/14, the Panel had 
adopted the convention to recommend annual increases in line with the National 
Joint Council for Local Government Services annual employee pay award and this 
approach had been agreed by the Council.  

           Before then allowances had been frozen since 2008/09.      

           The Panel at the last meeting on 21 January 2016 agreed that it was appropriate for 
the increases in allowances recommended in the review previously undertaken by an 
independent consultant in 2009 to be revisited.       

           As part of last year’s review the Panel noted from the comparative information 
provided for the Hertfordshire local authorities for 2014/15 that this Council had fallen 
behind these, paying almost the lowest level of allowances in the County to its 
Members. 

           Whilst remaining mindful of the future economic climate, the Panel had a discussion 
with a view to looking at aspiring to the “median” rate of basic and special 
responsibility allowances in the Hertfordshire authorities for Members of this Council 
as a general principle and to try to find an acceptable way of achieving this.  

          This discussion included a review of the special responsibility allowances for the 
Leaders of Opposition Groups. It was agreed that the allowance for Group Leaders, 
which had been the same as that for a Cabinet Member, be replaced by one which 
was calculated on the basis of 75% of basic allowance plus a per capita payment 
£125 for each Group Member for the first Opposition Group Leader and 25% of basic 
allowance and a per capita payment of £125 for each Group Member for the second 
Opposition Group Leader.     

           Following this discussion, the Panel considered that there could be an incremental 
increase over two years with effect from 1 July 2016, with the normal  annual review 
by the Panel still taking place. The Panel took the view that this was a fair and 
reasonable way to move towards the Hertfordshire median, on a phased basis to 
take account of current financial circumstances whilst drawing closer to the spirit of 
the recommendations made in the consultant’s report. 

          A slight amendment was made to the Panel’s recommendations to make the special 
responsibility allowance for the Deputy Leader the same figure as previously 
recommended in the independent consultant’s report of £10, 500 rather than applying 
the Hertfordshire median rate of £7332 which created an anomaly making it less than 
the amount for a Cabinet Member.  

           The Panel’s recommendations were considered at the Council meeting on 11 July 
2016 when it was agreed that the changes to the allowances be brought in with 

Page 68



- 3 - 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
11 July 2017 
 

 

immediate effect from 1 July 2016 rather than phased over two years in view of the 
long delay in implementing them. 

3.4      Conclusion 

           When the Panel reviewed the level of Members’ Allowance payments last year for 
2016/17 it was agreed that the normal annual review by the Panel would still take 
place.  This is on the basis that they be increased in line with the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services annual pay award which for this year is 1%.   

           The Panel noted the Council’s decision to bring in the changes to the allowances last 
year with immediate effect rather than phasing them over two years, as 
recommended by the Panel. 

3.5      Recommendation    

           The Panel RECOMMENDS to the Council that the proposed level of Members’ Basic 
and Special Responsibility Allowances to be paid with effect from 1 July 2017 be as 
set out in Appendix B attached.  

 
Meeting ended 3.30pm 
GS 
 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Item No: 3 
Main author: Graham Seal 
For Recommendation 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL – 11 JULY 2017 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report seeks a recommendation from the Independent Remuneration Panel 
on a review of the level of allowances to be paid to Members for 2017/18 with 
effect from 1 July 2017. 

2 Financial Implications 

2.1 The current level of payments set out in the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 
2016/17 is attached at Appendix A and the proposed level of payments for 
2017/18 is attached at Appendix B. 

2.2 There is a new Cabinet Panel this year as the former Cabinet Housing and Planning 
Panel, has been replaced by a Cabinet Housing Panel and a Cabinet Planning and 
Parking Panel giving an additional special responsibility allowance for the Chairman 
of £3884, but this amount is offset by a reduction in Lead Members from three to 
two and there is a saving of  £1,202 as the Appeals Committee has not been re-
appointed. 

2.3 If the level of basic allowance and special responsibility allowances are increased 
by 1% as recommended in this report in line with the national agreement for staff, 
the additional cost will be £ 3,640.  This can be partially offset by the saving from 
the special responsibility allowance for the Chairman of the Appeals Committee 
and the remaining additional cost can  be contained within the current overall 
annual budget of £348,500. 

3 Background  

3.1 Since the review by the Panel of the level of allowances for 2013/14, the Panel 
had adopted the convention to recommend annual increases in line with the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services annual employee pay 
award and this approach had been agreed by the Council.  

3.2 Before then allowances had been frozen since 2008/09.      

3.3 The Panel at the last meeting on 21 January 2016 agreed that it was appropriate 
for the increases in allowances recommended in the review previously 
undertaken by an independent consultant in 2009 to be revisited.       

3.4 As part of last year’s review the Panel noted from the comparative information 
provided for the Hertfordshire local authorities for 2014/15 that this Council had 
fallen behind these, paying almost the lowest level of allowances in the County to 
its Members. 

Page 71



- 2 - 

3.5 Whilst remaining mindful of the future economic climate, the Panel had a 
discussion with a view to looking at aspiring to the “median” rate of basic and 
special responsibility allowances in the Hertfordshire authorities for Members of 
this Council as a general principle and to try to find an acceptable way of 
achieving this.  

3.6 This discussion included a review of the special responsibility allowances for the 
Leaders of Opposition Groups. It was agreed that the allowance for Group 
Leaders, which had been the same as that for a Cabinet Member, be replaced by 
one which was calculated on the basis of 75% of basic allowance plus a per 
capita payment £125 for each Group Member for the first Opposition Group 
Leader and 25% of basic allowance and a per capita payment of £125 for each 
Group Member for the second Opposition Group Leader.     

3.7 Following this discussion, the Panel considered that there could be an 
incremental increase over two years with effect from 1 July 2016, with the normal  
annual review by the Panel still taking place. The Panel took the view that this 
was a fair and reasonable way to move towards the Hertfordshire median, on a 
phased basis to take account of current financial circumstances whilst drawing 
closer to the spirit of the recommendations made in the consultant’s report. 

3.8 A slight amendment was made to the Panel’s recommendations to make the 
special responsibility allowance for the Deputy Leader the same figure as 
previously recommended in the independent consultant’s report of £10, 500 
rather than applying the Hertfordshire median rate of £7332 which created an 
anomaly making it less than the amount for a Cabinet Member.  

3.9 The Panel’s recommendations were considered at the Council meeting on 11 
July 2016 when it was agreed that the changes to the allowances be brought in 
with immediate effect from 1 July 2016 rather than phased over two years in view 
of the long delay in implementing them. 

4 Conclusion 

4.1 When the Panel reviewed the level of Members’ Allowance payments last year 
for 2016/17 it was agreed that the normal annual review by the Panel would still 
take place.  This is on the basis that they be increased in line with the National 
Joint Council for Local Government Services annual pay award which for this 
year is 1%.   

4.2 The Panel is recommended therefore to increase Members’ Allowances by 1% 
will effect from 1 July 2017 in line with this year’s national agreement for staff. 

4.3 This recommendation will be reported for consideration to the Council meeting on 
11 September 2017. 

Rob Bridge  
Chief Executive 
June 2017 

Page 72



308 Revised 
May 2017 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

1. ENQUIRIES

1.1. Enquiries about allowances may be addressed to Graham Seal, Governance 
Services Manager (01707) 357444. 

2. BASIC ALLOWANCE

2.1. Basic allowance is payable at a flat rate to all elected Members of the Council. 

2.2. If a councillor is elected to or leaves the Council during the year, basic 
allowance will be paid pro-rata for the proportion of the year during which the 
councillor has been a serving Member of the Council. 

2.3. With effect from 1 July 2016, basic allowance will be paid at the rate of £5,001 
per annum. Payment will be made in monthly instalments of £416.75. 

3. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE (SRA)

3.1. The Council has authorised the following payments in addition to Members’ 
basic allowance: - 

Per Annum (£) 
2016/17 

Monthly (£) 
2016/17 

15,002 1,250.17 
10,500 875.00 
9,580 798.33 
3,846 320.50 
4,454 371.17 
5,001 416.75 
3,846 320.50 
3,846 320.50
3,763 313.58 

3,846 320.50
1,202 100.16
5,626 468.83 
1,875 156.25 
2,020 168.33
6,215 N/A

Leader of the Council 
Deputy Leader 
Cabinet Member 
Lead Member 
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
Chairman of Development Management Committee 
Chairman of Hackney Carriage Committee 
Chairman of Cabinet Panel
Chairman of Audit Committee 
Chairman of Liquor and Regulated 
Entertainment Licensing Committee 
Chairman of Appeals Committee
Leader of First Opposition Group 
Leader of Second Opposition Group 
Chairman of Standards Committee
Mayor
Deputy Mayor 1,554 N/A 

Apppendix A

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 

 
MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
1. ENQUIRIES 
 
1.1. Enquiries about allowances may be addressed to Graham Seal, Governance 

Services Manager (01707) 357444. 
 
2. BASIC ALLOWANCE 
 
2.1. Basic allowance is payable at a flat rate to all elected Members of the 

Council. 
 
2.2. If a councillor is elected to or leaves the Council during the year, basic 

allowance will be paid pro-rata for the proportion of the year during which the 
councillor has been a serving Member of the Council. 

 
2.3. With effect from 1 July 2017, basic allowance will be paid at the rate of 

£5,051 per annum. Payment will be made in monthly instalments of £420.92. 
 
3. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE (SRA) 
 
3.1. The Council has authorised the following payments in addition to Members’ 

basic allowance: - 
 

 Per Annum (£) 
2017/18 

Monthly (£) 
2017/18 

Leader of the Council 15,152 1,262.66 
Deputy Leader 10,605 883.75 
Cabinet Member 9,676 806.33 
Lead Member 3,884 323.66 
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 4,499 374.92 
Chairman of Development Management Committee 5,051 420.92 
Chairman of Hackney Carriage Committee 3,884 323.66 
Chairman of Cabinet Panel 3,884 323.66 
Chairman of Audit Committee 3,801 316.75 
Chairman of Liquor and Regulated 
Entertainment Licensing Committee 

 
3,884 

 
323.66 

Leader of First Opposition Group 5,788 482.33 
Leader of Second Opposition Group 1,888 157.33 
Chairman of Standards Committee 2,040 170.00 
Mayor 6,277 N/A 
Deputy Mayor 1,570 N/A 

 

Appendix B 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Simon Curling 
Executive Member: Roger Trigg 
Ward: All 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FULL COUNCIL – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE) 
 
 STREET TRADING CONSENTS 
 
1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the current arrangements for street trading consents and 
asks Members to agree the introduction of a new condition. The purpose of the 
proposed new condition would be to prevent additional name(s) being added to 
an existing consent.  

1.2 A meeting of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee took place on 20 July 2017, where members discussed the 
proposal and agreed the following: 

1)  That the proposal to add a new condition to the Street Trading consent 
policy be agreed and recommended to Council for adoption. 

2)  Overview and Scrutiny Committee be involved with the review of the                         
Street Trading Consent Policy. 

1.3 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (“The Council”) (through the Licensing Team) 
have recently received requests from street traders who wish to add family 
members to their current consents. It is then possible to transfer the consent to 
the other named persons, rather than it being surrendered once the original party 
has no further use for the consent. This could have the effect of bypassing any 
existing waiting list. 

2 Recommendation(s)                                                                                              

2.1 Council  agrees to the introduction of  a new condition to the Council’s Street 
Trading Consent conditions with the following wording:  

“A Street Trading Consent will only be issued in one person’s name and the said 
consent is not transferrable. The holder of the consent may employ any other 
person to assist him in his trading without a further consent being required. “ 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Council regulates street trading under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 (“the Act”) and has adopted a “prohibited and consent 
street” method of regulation. As the name implies, street trading may be carried 
out in a designated “consent street” provided the consent of the Council has 
been given through the Public Health and Protection Team. Street trading is 
prohibited in a “prohibited street.” In this context the words “street” and “street 
trading” have specific legal meanings and there are exemptions along with an 
interface with peddler licensing and markets legislation.   

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



- 2 - 

3.2 The original policy for street trading was set in 1982, revised in 1992 and 
reviewed again in 1995. There are currently five street trading pitches (within the 
consent streets) in the Borough and a waiting list is kept for those requiring a 
street trading consent. There are currently sixteen people who have registered 
an interest in obtaining a pitch but these pitches very rarely become vacant. All 
pitches currently trade in fast food. 

3.3 All existing street traders apply to renew their licence each year in accordance 
with Section 3 of and Schedule 4 to the Act. Where a renewal application has 
been made and the trader is compliant with all the criteria for assessment (there 
have been no substantiated complaints, no enforcement issues and the relevant 
fee has been paid) the consent will be renewed. The consent can last a 
maximum of 12 months but can be revoked at any time. 

3.4 The Act currently allows the holder of a street trading consent to employ any 
other person to assist him in his trading without a further consent being applied 
for. A second name has not previously been added to a consent as it was 
considered unnecessary for the purposes of a consent holder being able to call in 
assistance when necessary, due to workload, illness or other emergency. 

3.5 If a consent holder surrenders their licence for whatever reason the next person 
on the waiting list is contacted to enquire whether they are still interested in 
obtaining a consent. Often people have moved away from the address on the 
Council’s list or are no longer interested in which case the licensing office would 
move down the list until a suitable applicant is found.  

3.6 Currently there have been three enquiries from consent holders who may be 
considering surrendering their consents for a variety of reasons but instead are 
asking to add an additional family member to the consent. It is presumed that at 
some point in the future the renewal will be applied for in the new person’s name 
only thus effectively transferring the consent to a person of their choice.  

3.7 In addition a street trading working party report in March 2000 recommended that 
two sites were restricted to the current holders only, after which time they would 
lapse. However, it is worth noting that this may be the subject of a further report 
in the future to establish the continuation or cessation of these particular street 
trading consents and a review of the street trading policy. 

3.8 The current street trading policy is attached as Appendix A. 

3.9 The conditions attached to the consents, with the new proposed wording inserted 
as track changes, are attached as Appendix B.  

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 The Act allows the Council to attach such conditions as they consider reasonably 
necessary and at any time vary the conditions of a consent.  

4.2 Section 7(4) of Schedule 4 of the Act states “When granting or renewing a street 
trading consent the council may attach such conditions as they consider 
reasonably necessary” 

4.3 Section 7 (6) of Schedule 4 of the Act provides that “The council may at any time 
vary the conditions of a street trading consent” 

Page 78



- 3 - 

4.4 Section 7(10) of Schedule 4 of the Act states that “A street trading consent may 
be granted for any period not exceeding 12 months but may be revoked at any 
time” 

4.5 The Council is able to attach conditions to street trading consents and these can 
be used to help ensure trading is carried out in a consistent manner and in 
accordance with the requirements of the Council.  

4.6 A Street trading consent and the conditions which form part of the consent do 
not have a Human Rights Act implication when considering the variation of the 
conditions.  

       

5 Financial implication(s) 

5.1 The Act provides the mechanism to charge an appropriate fee for street trading 
consents. However, the fees cannot be set in order to generate a profit.  

5.2 There are no current proposals to review the fees and charges for street trading 
consents as they are at the correct level to cover the costs of administering and 
enforcing. 

5.3 In respect of this report, the addition of a new condition to the consent does not 
have any financial implications. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1      Some of the consent holders have operated their businesses for a number of 
years and wish to pass the business on to family members. This is something 
that many other small business owners do. If the proposal outlined in this report 
is agreed then a reputational risk may arise if the business owner feels aggrieved 
by the decision. 

6.2 However, it is also worth mentioning that the Council can revoke these consents 
at any time, so the opportunity to hand over a consent may not always exist.  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)   

None directly arising from this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly arising from this report. 

9 Climate Change Implications 

9.1 None directly arising from this report. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “maintain a 
safe and healthy community” and “help build a strong local economy” 

  

Page 79



- 4 - 

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 This report relates to an amendment to the existing conditions and is not a review 
of the current policy. The criteria for obtaining a street trading consent will not 
change in light of the recommendations outlined in this report and as such a full 
Equality Impact assessment has not taken place. 

Report author  
Simon Curling - Licensing Technical Officer 
 

Appendices 

Appendix A - Current Street Trading Policy   

Appendix B - List of current Street Trading Consent conditions. 

Appendix C – Report and Minutes of the EOSC meeting on 20th July 2017.   

Page 80



APPENDIX A 

Page 81



INDEX NO. LOl 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DIVISION 

SUBJECT STREET TRADING CONSENTS 

LEGISLATION LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982 

POLICY 

As from 2nd May 1995 the streets in the following schedule will be 
consent streets. All other streets will be prohibited streets. 

One trader only will be granted consent at any one time in any 
consent street. The consents will be limited to the times shown in 
the schedule and where daytime and evening trading is indicated 
this comprises two separate consents which can be allocated to two 
different traders. 

Only traders who will not be in competition with existing shops in 
the same location will be allowed, however renewals of existing 
consents where such a shop has opened more recently than the 
commencement of trading by the street trader will be decided on 
their merits. · 

The exact location of any stall within a consent street, if on the 
public highway will agreed with the Council's Highways Department 
and included in the conditions of the consent. 

Where the consent is for non-highway land within the ownership of 
the Council (for example a car park) the Estates Division will be 
informed of the details so that they can negotiate their fee 
before the consent is issued. Any location requirements of the 
Estates Division will be included in the conditions of the 
c9nsent. 

All consents will be annual and will expire on 31st March 
following. The fee will be decided by Committee from year to year. 

All food traders will be required to present their stall or 
vehicle for inspection under Food Safety Act before the consent is 
issued and the address of their home premises should be notified 

. to the appropriate local authority so that they can ensure that it 
is registered under FSA. 

SCHEDULE 
LOCATION 

1. Brownfields, Welwyn Garden City, . 
between 1-27 odd and 2-32 even. 

2. Surrowfield, Welwyn Garden City, 
west of the junction with Little Burrow. 

TIME LIMIT 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

I 
.j 
! 

Page 82



3. Marford Road, Lemsford, 
lay-by south side of road, 
west of junction with Green Lanes. 08.30-17.30 

4. Moors Walk/Hardings, Panshanger; 
car park to shops. 08.30-17.30 & 18.00-00.00 

5. · Haldens Shops., Welwyn Gar.den City 08.30-17.30 

6. Hall Grove, Welwyn Garden City, 
paved pedestrian area and lay-by to shops. 08.30-17.30 

7. Hollybush Shops, Welwyn Garden City 08.30-17.30 

8. Gracemead Car Park, . Hatfield 

9. Wellfield/Kennelwood Road Car Parks, Hatfield 

10. High View, Hatfield, 

18.00-00.00 

18.00-00.00 

car park to north of shops. 08.30-17.30 & 18.00-00.00 

11. Sandpit Road, Welwyn Garden City, 
between Mill Green Road and junction 
with Furzefield Road. 

12. Shoplands, Welwyn Garden City 

13. Sopers Road, Cuffley 

14. Swallowfields, Welwyn Garden City 

15. Travellers Close, Welham Green 

16. Woodhall, Welwyn Garden City, 
car park to shops. 

17. Wigmores North, . Welwyn Garden City. 

18. Stonehills, Welwyn Garden City. 

19. Land at junction of Pear Tree Lane 
and Bridge Road East, Welwyn Garden City 

20. Layby on east-bound carriagewy of A414 
Hertford road between Mill Green and 
Holwell Lane roundabout. 

DATE 9th May 1995 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

08.30-17.30 

18.00-00.00 

18.00-00.00 

SOURCE Environmental Services Committee 9th June and 3rd 
November 1992 and 13th September 1993 and Urgency 
Sub Commmittee 2nd May 1995 
Chief Environmental Health Officer 

I 

I 
I 
I 

! 

I 
I 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



 

Council 11.09.2017 
Part I 
Item No: 12 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 49 
 
To consider the following notice of motion submitted under Procedure Rule 49:- 
 
 
1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Kieran Thorpe 

and will be seconded by Councillor John Fitzpatrick:- 
 

“This Council is disappointed in the decision of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to submit his intention to the Home Secretary to align Police and 
Fire services within his remit. 
 
This Council notes that ahead of any decision by the Home Secretary,  the 
office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is advertising a vacancy for a 
senior position to facilitate “the potential change” in governance. 
 
This Council resolves its previously expressed opposition to these plans and 
re-affirms its previously passed resolution that there should be no reduction to 
existing fire service provision in Welwyn and Hatfield.” 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Older Persons Housing Strategy 2017 - 2022
	8a - OPHS  08Aug17
	8a1 - OPHS and Action Plan for Consultation Final Appendix

	8b External Auditor Appointment
	8b - External Auditors Appointment

	9 WELWYN HATFIELD MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME
	9a - IRP Minutes - 11 July 2017
	9b - Review of Members Allowances 2017
	9c - Appx A Members' Allowances
	9d - Appx B Members' Allowances

	10 CONSIDERATION OF ADDING A NEW CONDITION TO ALL STREET TRADING CONSENTS
	10a - Appendix A
	10b - new appendix b
	10c - New Appendix C

	12 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

